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We met in Juneau on 1 April 1997 to decide which employer is responsible for Employee's workers' compensation benefits.  Employee is represented by attorney Michael J. Jensen.  Phoenix Logging (Phoenix), Klukwan Forest Products (Klukwan), and Alaska Timber Insurance Exchange (ATIE) are represented by attorney BethAnn Boudah Chapman.  The State of Alaska, Department of Labor (State of Alaska) is represented by Assistant Attorney General Kristin S. Knudsen.  We held the record open to enable the parties to provide additional evidence requested by a member of this panel of the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board (AWCB).  The additional evidence was received and closing arguments were made on 25 April 1997.  We closed the record and concluded our deliberations on 13 May 1997, the date of our next regularly scheduled meeting.


ISSUES

1.  Is ATIE or the State of Alaska responsible for Employee's workers' compensation benefits by application of the last injurious exposure rule?


2.  If the State of Alaska is responsible, is Employee entitled to additional temporary total disability (TTD) compensation as reimbursement for sick leave used, and additional permanent partial impairment (PPI) compensation?


3.  Is Employee entitled to payment of a penalty and interest?


4.  What attorney's fees and costs are due, and who is responsible for them?


SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE AND PROCEEDINGS

In May 1986 Employee injured his back while operating logging equipment for Phoenix.  Back surgery at L5-S1 was performed in November 1986 by Frederic Waller, M.D.  Employee returned to work in about June 1987 operating logging equipment and driving log trucks for Chambers and Sons.  


In March 1988 Employee was found to have a 15 percent whole-person permanent impairment based on the AMA Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment.  (Progress Note of Joseph A. Shields, M.D., 28 March 1988.) 


Employee's back condition was aggravated in October 1989 while operating equipment for Klukwan.  (Employee dep. at 16.)


On 9 May 1990 we approved a Compromise and Release Agreement (C&R) between Employee and Phoenix, Klukwan, and ATIE.  In return for $37,500,  Employee released both Employers and ATIE from liability for all future workers' compensation benefits except medical care. 


In November 1990 Employee went to work for the State of Alaska, Department of Labor, Division of Labor Standards and Safety in Ketchikan, where he was employed as a Safety Compliance Officer in the Occupational Safety and Health (OSHA) section.  The job duties of a Safety Compliance Officer include safety and compliance inspections of logging, construction, and "fixed industry" work sites.  Employee was required to travel to the work sites, lift objects (e.g., his luggage) occasionally, and climb up and down hills in rugged terrain.  (Employee dep. at 20-21.)  


Employee testified that since his injury in 1986 he has had constant back pain, which increases and decreases in intensity.  Prolonged sitting, climbing hills, and lifting increases the pain.  (Employee dep. at 27-28.)  


Employee testified that in November 1994 his back pain became more frequent.  (Id. at 22.)  At hearing, Employee testified that physical activity increases his back pain, that his back pain increased in 1994, and that he received two epidural steroid injections during the time he worked in Ketchikan.  He said performing the logging inspections stood out in his memory as causing increased back pain.  


Employee testified at hearing that when the pain got very bad he would take medications and sick leave, and would see a doctor when his pain "is so bad I can't function."  Employee reviewed his personnel records and testified that although he did not document the reasons for taking leave, he believes he took about 51 hours of sick leave related to his back pain in 1994; "roughly" 60 hours in 1995 and about the same in 1996.  On cross-examination, Employee acknowledged the sick leave he took due to back pain was not all attributable to activities at work which aggravated his back pain. 


Employee saw Dr. Shields, a Ketchikan orthopedist, in January 1991 for increased back and leg pain after lifting a 60-pound water pump at home.  Employee reported constant leg pain, especially with twisting movements.  Physical therapy, including traction, was prescribed.  (Shields report 17 January 1991.)  Dr. Shields prescribed additional physical therapy in October 1991 and Employee was discharged "pain free" from physical therapy on 15 November 1991.  Dr. Shields re-checked Employee in December 1991 and reported:  "He does have a good job working for the State and it is not physically demanding and this does not seem to be a problem what so ever."  (Shields progress note, 10 December 1991.)


Employee saw Stacy N. Schulz, M.D., a Ketchikan internist in November 1994.  Employee reported ongoing back problems and left leg pain, and inquired about surgery.  Dr. Schultz reported:  "He states that turning the wrong way will usually cause popping sensation, and then he will have his increased pain."  (Schulz report, 21 November 1994.)


In 1995 Dr. Schultz ordered a work site analysis performed by a physical therapist.  Employee raised his computer station and obtained a tall stool to sit on, as suggested by the physical therapist who performed the analysis.  Employee testified these changes helped relieve the pressure on his back.  (Employee dep. at 37-38.)  ATIE talked with Employee on 15 March 1995
 and denied responsibility for any work-station modifications, so Employee asked the State of Alaska to make additional, permanent modifications which cost about $4,000.  (Employee dep. at 38-40.)


At ATIE's request, Employee was evaluated by Edward M. Voke, M.D., a board-certified orthopedic surgeon, on 27 February 1995.  He was deposed on 26 March 1997.  Dr. Voke is one of the physicians who performs second independent medical evaluations for the AWCB.  (AWCB Bulletin 95-05 (14 February 1995).)  At the time of the evaluation, Employee reported constant low-back pain since the 1986 injury, with intermittent left-leg pain.  (Voke report at 2.)  Employee attributed his ongoing back problems to the 1986 injury, not to his employment with the State of Alaska.  (Id. at 1-2, Voke dep. at 7.)  Dr. Voke diagnosed: 1) Post L5-S1 left lumbar laminectomy with disc excision; 2) Chronic facet syndrome; 3) Old compression fracture [at L4.]; and  4)  Degenerative disc disease, L4-5 and L5-S1.  In response to ATIE's questions, Dr. Voke concluded Employee suffered no new injuries, and that Employee's back problems "are aggravations from his initial problem."  Concerning treatment, Dr. Voke recommended Employee only attend "back school" for two sessions to learn how to care for his back.  He stated the "treatment is directly related to his 1986 injury."  (Voke report at 3.)  He then concluded:  "I do not feel his present employment as a safety inspector is aggravating his situation.  I would suggest he continue working."  (Id. at 4.)


At his deposition, Dr. Voke reviewed all of Employee's MRI studies, including the most recent one dated 12 March 1997.  He testified the MRIs did not change his opinion about the cause of Employee's problems, i.e. the degenerative process, or the need for surgery.  (Voke dep. at 8, 11, 13-17.)  He testified Employee's work for the State of Alaska did not permanently aggravate Employee's back problems, although it could have caused a temporary flare-up or aggravation of his preexisting condition, as could any activity.  He said Employee's work for the State of Alaska did not accelerate the degenerative process any more than any other activity Employee could have engaged in.  (Id. at 8-10, 19-21.)


Dr. Voke was asked about the bulging disc which can be seen on the MRIs and became more prominent by 1994.  He testified:


Q.  So it became more involved over time?


A.  Yes.


Q.  [I]f Mr. Oldring had not been engaged in physical activities that he had described himself, and that is the logging roads, climbing up and down the hills, doing his logging inspections, is it your opinion that he would have that bulging disk today?


A. Yes.

(Voke dep. at 23.)


Employee saw Dr. Schulz 28 August 1995 for acute back pain related to moving boxes at home in preparation for moving.  Dr. Schulz diagnosed an "exacerbation of his chronic back pain and injury."  (Schulz chart note, 28 August 1995.) 


Employee worked in Ketchikan until the end of August 1995 when he transferred to Anchorage, where he began work on 1 September 1995 for the State of Alaska, OSHA as a safety consultant.  His duties were similar to those in Ketchikan, but less physically demanding.  He spent a lot of time sitting at a desk during training, which increased his back pain.  He performed only one logging inspection while in Anchorage, and it was on level ground.  (Employee dep. at 34-35.)


Employee saw Michael H. Newman, M.D., in Anchorage on 21 September 1995 for recurrent back and left leg pain.  Dr. Newman reported:  "The patient has had an acute flareup, which he says is the worst since the original injury, and that started a month ago."  Dr. Newman concluded, based on the history of recurring episodes going back to 1986, that Employee's back problems "certainly sounds like a worse flare-up of his ongoing problem as documented by Dr. Voke."  (Newman chart note, 21 September 1995.)  Dr. Newman ordered a new MRI scan and referred Employee to Dr. Swift for epidural steroid injections.  He concluded Employee was not a surgical candidate.  (Newman chart note, 10 October 1995.)


On 3 January 1996 Employee filed a Report of Occupational Injury or Illness (Report of Injury) which indicates he aggravated his old back injury "approximately 11/21/94."  He attributed the aggravation to "prolonged sitting - riding in vehicle over rough roads - occasional bending down."  Employee's supervisor, the Acting Chief, Consultation, stated: "Back was reinjured from doing routine tasks, sitting at desk, riding in vehicle, performing inspections.  Phil first informed his supervisor in March 1995."  (Report of Injury, block No. 38)  At hearing Employee testified he filed the Report of Injury form after ATIE declined to pay his medical bills.  He did so because he felt his work with DOL could be aggravating his back condition, and his medical bills were not being paid.


ATIE sent Employee's MRI and CT scans to Timothy L. Larson, M.D., a Seattle radiologist for review.  He reviewed a myelogram/CT dated 17 November 1989, and MRIs dated 24 June 1987, 1 November 1989, 5 November 1989, 22 December 1994 and 5 October 1995.  In response to one of ATIE's questions, Dr. Larson concluded there was "little if any, change" in Employee's low-back condition between 1987 and 1995, and no evidence of a new disc herniation.  Dr. Larson suggested another question should be answered by a surgeon or rehabilitation physician, but stated that based only on the film studies alone:


[I]t is more probable than not that the current problems do not relate to the injury of May 1986.  I base this on the information given that states he was able to return to work symptom free in 1987 post-operatively.  In that interval, his MR is stable with no evidence for worsening stenosis at the L3-4 level, L4-5 or L5-S1 level, with a stable post-operative appearance at L5-S1.

(Larson letter, 1 February 1996, emphasis in original)


ATIE first controverted Employee's medical care on 20 February 1996 based on Dr. Larson's report.  (Controversion Notice, 20 February 1996.)


From September 1995 through March 1996 Employee was treated for chronic low-back and leg pain by Robert Swift, M.D., on referral by Dr. Newman.  Dr. Swift is an Anchorage anesthesiologist who practices chronic pain management.  In a letter to Mr. Jensen, Dr. Swift wrote: 


[Employee was able to perform his job with the State of Alaska] without significant aggravation to his low back condition from 1990 until November 1994.  At that time he was having recurring back pain with radiculopathy in his left lower extremity, which Mr. Oldring feels was primarily due to his job which required riding on rough logging roads in a pickup truck which jostled his body around significantly, having to climb mountains in rugged terrain and, in addition, prolonged sitting at his desk.  His condition has continued to deteriorate to the point that he has sought out my care for some sort of pain management.

(Swift letter, 8 March 1996.)


Dr. Swift treated Employee with lumbar epidural steroid injections, oral pain medications and muscle relaxants.  Employee's pain continued to increase, so an MRI was performed on 5 October 1995 which "showed a small focal disc bulge on the left at L5-S1 impinging the left S1 nerve root, pushing it back against the somewhat sharp-appearing edge of the remaining portion of the lamina."  Dr. Swift concluded this could account for Employee's pain complaints.


Dr. Swift also reviewed, and strongly disagreed with Dr. Larson's 1 February 1996 letter which concluded Employee's problems were not related to the May 1986 injury.  He stated:  "[M]any times following surgery patients will have gradual accumulation of scar tissue in the epidural space which can aggravate a painful condition by sticking to nerve roots and becoming chronically inflamed, thereby leading to the well-known failed back syndrome."  He concluded Employee's surgery caused scar tissue to form and his subsequent work caused "mechanical irritation" which aggravated his condition.


Dr. Swift was deposed in March 1997, but his testimony was not useful in determining causation.


On 4 June 1996 Employee quit his job with DOL and moved to Oregon, where he began work for the State of Oregon as an OSHA inspector.


At Mr. Jensen's request Employee was evaluated by Paul M. Puziss, M.D., a board-certified orthopedic surgeon in Oregon.  Dr. Puziss does shoulder, but not back surgery.  Dr. Puziss saw Employee on 29 January 1997 and was deposed on 10 March 1997.


In his letter to Mr. Jensen, Dr. Puziss reported Employee experienced intermittent severe low-back pain after returning to work in mid-1987, and began having pain radiating to his left leg by December 1988.  At the time of the examination, Employee reported he now drives about 150 miles inspecting in a typical work day, and reported low-back pain, made worse by "turning, standing, lying down, carrying, lifting, climbing, and descending stairs."  (Puziss 29 January 1997 report at 2.)  Employee reported an exacerbation of severe pain with radiation to both legs on 14 January 1997, not caused by a specific injury, which caused him to go to the emergency room in Oregon, where he was given a demerol injection.  (Id.)


Dr. Puziss reviewed the 9 October 1995 MRI and noted "a portion of bone that appears to abut against the left S1 nerve root . . . .  There is a small disk protrusion at L5-S1.  The S1 nerve root appears somewhat flattened.  I do not see much in the way of scar tissue there."  (Id. at 3.)  He diagnosed:  1) Status post left L5-S1 laminotomy and diskectomy.  2) Persistent left S1 nerve root irritation, secondary to lamina prominence.  3) On-going mild but intermittently symptomatic left lumbosacral facet syndrome."


Dr. Puziss concluded Employee had permanent partial impairment which exceeded the 15 percent previously rated, but declined to perform a PPI rating because he was not medically stable.  He recommended Employee have another MRI, and be evaluated by a neurosurgeon.  He stated:


I believe that the patient's complaints relate back to the original injury in 1986, and the surgery therefrom.  I do not believe that he has sustained a new injury on his present job; he has had on-going symptoms for the past 11 years.  These wax and wane, as expected.  In any case, he is not medically stationary.


Dr. Puziss prepared a follow-up letter to Mr. Jensen dated 4 February 1997.  At Mr. Jensen's request, he agreed to rate Employee for litigation purposes.  He found Employee has a 23 percent PPI based on the AMA Guides, Fourth Edition.  He felt that rating would be reduced if the neurosurgeon recommended surgery, and it was performed successfully.


Dr. Puziss testified the 5 October 1995 MRI which showed the bone adjacent to the S1 nerve root was the result of an "incomplete laminectomy."  He stated: "the bone should have been removed from previous surgery, and I felt that that bone may be an ongoing cause of his sciatica which he's had for a long time."  (Puziss dep at 6-7.)


Employee told Dr. Puziss he worked for the State of Alaska as a safety compliance officer, which was easier work than operating logging equipment.  He did not attribute his back problems to the work for the State of Alaska, and said the lighter work there helped reduce his pain.  (Id. at 15-16, 25.)  Employee did not report that riding in a vehicle on rough roads or sitting at his desk caused increased back pain.  (Id. at 23.)  After reviewing Dr. Swift's letter, Dr. Puziss testified Employee reported different information to him about the cause of his back pain.  (Id. at 26.)


On examination by Ms. Boudah-Chapman, Dr. Puziss testified that riding on rough logging roads, climbing in rugged terrain, and sitting for prolonged periods at a desk could aggravate, accelerate, or combine with Employee's preexisting condition, and would be a substantial factor in causing his need for medical treatment.  (Id. at 34-35.)


On examination by Ms. Knudsen, Dr. Puziss testified that Employee's activities did not cause the bony defect, which he believes is causing Employee's pain, but that "in all likelihood [it] has been there all along."  He also testified that the exacerbations or flare-ups of pain may come and go due to many causes, and may be permanent or transitory.  (Id. at 41-42.)  Dr. Puziss stated that he did not find much scar tissue formation, and that the only way to determine if the remaining lamina adjoining the S1 nerve root is causing Employee's problems is to perform surgery.


Cliff Hustead, a safety consultant with DOL in Ketchikan, testified at hearing.  He was friends with Employee for 10 years, and a co-worker with him at the DOL in Ketchikan from 1990 until 1995 when Employee transferred to Anchorage.  Mr. Hustead testified he was aware of Employee's prior back injury, and said Employee was having back problems when he first came to work.  Employee also complained of back pain after lifting or performing logging inspections.  He said Employee would go to the doctor or the physical therapist and would be "laid up for a couple of days."  Mr. Hustead testified that logging inspections are "physically demanding" due to the long hours of work required, because the inspector must ride to the logging sites in old vehicles on rough roads, and must climb in steep terrain.  He said Employee performed 60 or 70 inspections in 1993 and 1994, 11 of which were logging inspections, which Employee did not like to perform because of they increased his back pain.  


At hearing, Mrs. Oldring testified Employee's surgery helped reduce Employee's back pain for a while, but after about a year he began to have episodes of pain.  In the last three to four years Employee began to have a some "major episodes" of severe pain, which usually last a minimum of three to four days.  


George M. Ladyman, M.D., a board-certified radiologist from Anchorage, testified at hearing.  At Ms. Knudsen's request he reviewed Employee's MRIs from 1986 through 1997.  On the 1995 MRI, which was performed with and without contrast, Dr. Ladyman found definite scarring at the L5-S1 level and degenerative disc disease.  He testified that the defect could also be arachnoiditis, which can be caused by surgery and cause pain, or a recurrent disc which also causes pain.  He testified that the MRI studies indicate Employee is experiencing the usual, continuing degenerative process, that he agrees with Dr. Voke, and that as usual, the condition will continue to get worse with age.  He stated that heavy labor, and well as the normal activities of daily living, could cause the symptoms Employee is experiencing.  If Employee has a recurrent disc herniation, Dr. Ladyman was unable to testify when it occurred.


Dave Stewart, the Human Resource Manager with the State of Alaska Department of Labor, reviewed Employee's personnel records from 1994 to 1996 and testified about them at hearing.  Mr. Stewart prepared spread sheets for 1994 and 1995 which shows Employee's travel time, and use of sick and annual leave.  On cross-examination, Mr. Stewart acknowledged the personnel records he reviewed did not identify all the field trips which Employee made during his regular duty hours within a designated geographic area around Ketchikan, so not all of Employee's travel is shown on the spreadsheets he prepared. 


Mr. Stewart testified that Employee's performance evaluation for the period 26 November 1991 through 25 November 1992 shows Employee performed 79 inspections, without indicating the type of inspections performed.  From 15 November 1992 to 16 November 1993 Employee performed a total of 84 inspections, with no indication of the type of inspections performed.  From 27 November 1993 to 26 November 1994 Employee performed a total of 60 inspections, 11 of which were logging inspections.  From 27 November 1994 to 31 May 1996 Employee performed 33 inspections, seven of which were logging inspections.


Mr. Stewart testified he found no request for a modified work station among Employee's personnel records. 


Dennis Smythe, Chief of Alaska Occupational Safety and Health, Division of Labor Standards and Safety, Alaska Department of Labor, testified at hearing.  He supervises the supervisors of the enforcement and consulting sections within OSHA.  He hired Employee in 1990, and supervised him for an unspecified period of time.


Mr. Smythe testified he was not aware that Employee had a pre-existing back injury, but recalls Employee telling him one summer, on one occasion, that he needed to take some time off because his back was bothering him.  In response, he asked Employee to file a Report of Injury form if the back problem was "workers'-comp-related."  Mr. Smythe testified Employee neither took any time off during the period in question, nor filed a Report of Injury as a result of that conversation.


Concerning Employee's request for a work-site modification, Mr. Smythe recalled the request was due to carpal tunnel syndrome.


Employee requests reimbursement of his out-of-pocket medical expenses, included Dr. Puziss charges,
 totalling $758.00, and that his Alaska health care insurer be reimbursed about $3,684.59 for the medical care provided for Employee's back.  Employee asserts that if we find his work for DOL caused a temporary aggravations of his back condition, that he be reimbursed for about 148 hours of sick leave during 1994, 1995 and 1996 which would entitle him to about $2,493.99 in temporary total disability (TTD) compensation, based on a compensation rate of $631.39.  If we find Employee's condition was permanently aggravated as ATIE asserts, resulting in the State of Alaska's full liability under the last injurious exposure rule, then Employee requests an additional eight percent (23 percent - 15 percent), or $10,800.00 PPI compensation ($135,000.00 x .08).  Employee also requests payment of a 25 percent late payment penalty and interest for late payment of medical costs and TTD compensation.


FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

Notice of Injury

As 23.30.100 provides in pertinent part:


  (a)  Notice of an injury or death in respect to which compensation is payable under this chapter shall be given within 30 days after the date of such injury or death to the board and to the employer.


  ....


  (d)  Failure to give notice does not bar a claim under this chapter


  (1)  if the employer, an agent of the employer in charge of the business in the place where the injury occurred, or the carrier had knowledge of the injury or death and the board determines that the employer or carrier has not been prejudiced by failure to give notice;


  (2)  if the board excuses the failure on the ground that for some satisfactory reason notice could not be given . . . .


The AWCA requires employees to provide formal written notice to their employer within 30 days after an injury in order to be eligible for workers' compensation benefits.  AS 23.30.100.  Under certain circumstances, late notice may be excused.  AS 23.30.100(d).


The Alaska Supreme Court recently decided two cases, Kolkman v. Greens Creek Mining Co., No. 4808 (Ak. Supr. Ct., April 18, 1997); and Cogger v. Anchor House, No. 4809 (Ak. Supr. Ct., April 18, 1997) which discussed the circumstances under which an employee's failure to give timely written notice may be excused.  In both cases the AWCB denied the employee's claim for failure to give timely notice, and both AWCB decisions were reversed by the Court.  In Kolkman, the Court held that in order for an employee's late notice of injury to be excused under section 100(d)(1), it is not necessary that the employer have knowledge that the employee's injury was work related.


In Cogger the court stated:


An employee must provide formal written notice to his or her employer within thirty days of an injury in order to be eligible workers compensation.  AS 23.30.100.  For reasons of fairness and based on the general excuse in AS 23.30.100(d)(2), this court has read a "reasonableness" standard, analogous to the "discovery rule" for statutes of limitations, into the statute.  Alaska State Hous. Auth v. Sullivan, 518 P.2d 759, 761 (Alaska 1974).  Under this standard, the thirty day period begins when "by reasonable care and diligence it is discoverable and apparent that a compensable injury has been sustained."  Id. at 761 (quoting 3 Arthur Larson, Workman's Compensation sec. 78.41, at 60 (1971)).


. . . .


Under Sullivan, the thirty day period begins to run when the worker could reasonably discover an injury's compensability.  518 P.2d 761.  The exact date when an employee could reasonably discover compensability is often difficult to determine, and missing the short thirty-day limitation period bars a claim absolutely.  For reasons of clarity and fairness, we hold that the thirty-day period can begin to run no earlier than when a compensable event first occurs.  However, it is not necessary that a claimant fully diagnose his or her injury for the thirty day period to begin.

(Cogger, slip op. at 3-4 of 7, endnote omitted.)


Employee claims that his work for DOL resulted in a new injury "approximately November 21, 1994," for which compensation is payable under the AWCA.  Employee first gave written notice of this injury, which he considers an aggravation of a previous injury, on 3 January 1996 when he filed the Report of Injury.  Therefore, Employee did not give written notice within 30 days after the date he claims a new injury occurred.  


In the C&R we approved in 1990, ATIE agreed to remain responsible for medical costs related to Employee's back condition.  Employee testified that until 1996 he thought his condition was due to the 1986 injury and 1989 aggravation, and that ATIE was paying his medical bills.  Although ATIE discontinued paying those costs in 1995, and declined to pay for the work-station modifications recommended, there was no medical evidence to support ATIE's denial of benefits until Dr. Larson issued his report on 1 February 1996.
  Based on Dr. Larson's report, ATIE first controverted Employee's claim on 20 February 1996.
  Employee filed the Report of Injury on 3 January 1996, before ATIE had any medical evidence to support its refusal to pay medical costs, and almost seven weeks before it filed a written Notice of Controversion.


We find Employee has met the "reasonableness" standard described in Sullivan and Cogger, under which the 30-day period begins to run only when by reasonable care and diligence it is discoverable and apparent that a claimant sustained a compensable injury.  We find the 30-day period for providing notice did not begin to run until ATIE controverted Employee's claim on 20 February 1996.  We find it was not necessary for Employee "to fully diagnose his injury," at an earlier time, because there was no medical evidence to support a finding that the State of Alaska could be responsible for his medical care, and Employee testified that until 1996 he believed his condition was due to the 1986 injury and 1989 aggravation.  We find there was no other event or circumstance which should have made the situation discoverable and apparent to Employee.  Even if the 30-day period began on 1 February 1996 when Dr. Larson reported Employee's back problems were not related to the 1986 injury, Employee's formal written notice was timely, because he provided it on 3 January 1996, before Dr. Larson's report and before ATIE controverted Employee's medical benefits.   Our finding is consistent with the holding in Cogger that the 30-day period can begin to run no earlier than the first occurrence of a compensable event.  Accordingly, we find Employee timely filed a formal written notice of injury.


Last Injurious Exposure

The last injurious exposure rule was first adopted in Alaska by our Supreme Court in Ketchikan Gateway Borough v. Saling, 604 P.2d 595 (Alaska 1979).  This rule imposes full liability on the employer at the time of the most recent injury which bears a causal relation to the disability. (Id.)  This rule is intended to provide a reasonably equitable approach to multi-employer compensation problems which is easy to administer, and avoids the difficulties associated with apportionment.


The rule is not designed, however, to inequitably impose liability upon employers having no connection with the employee's disability.  To ensure that the rule is not so utilized, the court indicated that 


liability may be imposed on a subsequent employer only after the claimant has proved by a preponderance of the evidence [after the presumption of compensability has been rebutted] that the employment aggravated, accelerated, or combined with a preexisting condition and that this aggravation, acceleration or combination was a substantial factor contributing to the ultimate disability.

Fairbanks N. Star Bor. v. Rogers & Babler, 747 P.2d 528 (Alaska 1987)


The court also discussed the factors we are to consider when determining whether an aggravation, acceleration or combination is a "substantial factor" in the resulting disability, and adopted the "but for" test in the last injurious exposure rule context.   "The `but for' test does not indicate the legal cause, but merely indicates the range of causes which may be considered legal causes."  Id. at 532, emphasis in original.  "Thus to say that the worker's disability would not have occurred `but for' a particular period of employment is merely to say that the period of employment was a substantial factor in the resulting disability."   Id.


Because we are dealing with situations where two or more conditions or incidents have contributed to the ultimate disability:


[T]he claimant can be expected to experience some degree of disability regardless of any subsequent trauma.  It can thus never be said that "but for" the subsequent trauma the claimant would not be disabled.  The proof  required, however, is not so difficult.  Rather, the claimant need only prove that "but for" the subsequent trauma the claimant would not have suffered disability at this time, or in this way, or to this degree.  In other words, to satisfy the "but for" test, the claimant need only prove, as indicated above, that the aggravation, acceleration or combination was a substantial factor in the resulting disability.

(Id. at 533.)


AS 23.30.120(a) provides in pertinent part:  "In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that (1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter. . . ."  As suggested above, this "presumption of compensability" is to be applied in last injurious cases, and may impose full liability on the last employer after a determination is made that a "preliminary link" connects the disability to the last employer.  Providence Washington Company v. Bonner, 680 P.2d 96, 98 (Alaska 1984).


"A party may overcome the presumption of compensability either by presenting affirmative evidence that the injury is not work-connected or by eliminating all possibilities that the injury was work-connected."  Veco Inc. v. Wolfer. 693 P.2d 865, 872 (Alaska 1985).  However, "It has always been possible to rebut the presumption of compensability by presenting a qualified expert who testifies that, in his or her opinion, the claimant's work was probably not a substantial cause of the disability."  Big K Grocery v. Gibson, 836 P.2d 941 (Alaska 1992).


If the presumption has been successfully rebutted, it drops out, and the party who asserts that the last employer is responsible must prove, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the employment aggravated, accelerated, or combined with a preexisting condition and that this aggravation, acceleration, or combination was a substantial factor contributing to the ultimate disability.  Fairbanks N. Star Bor. at 531.


In accord with the above analysis, we find that Employee and ATIE have presented sufficient evidence to establish the presumption of compensability against the last employer, the State of Alaska.  We rely on Employee's testimony that being bounced around while riding on bumpy roads and climbing in steep terrain in the course of performing logging inspections aggravated his back condition; on Dr. Larson's report which indicates Employee's back problems are not related to the 1986 injury; and on Dr. Puziss' testimony that riding on rough logging roads, climbing in rugged terrain, and prolonged sitting could aggravate, accelerate, or combine with Employee's preexisting condition and would be a substantial factor in causing Employee to need surgery.


We find the State of Alaska has presented sufficient affirmative evidence, including expert testimony, to rebut the presumption of compensability.   We rely on Dr. Voke's report and testimony that Employee suffered no new injury and that his need for medical treatment is "directly related" to the 1986 injury; that his current back condition is a result of the degenerative condition called degenerative disc disease, not to his job for the State of Alaska; that Employee's back symptoms are temporary flare-ups, not permanent aggravations; that his job did not accelerate the degenerative process any more than any other physical activity; and that the bulging disc at L5-S1, which has become worse over time, would have occurred even if Employee had not been performing strenuous logging inspections.  We rely on Dr. Newman's report that Employee's most severe flareup occurred at the time he was packing to move to Anchorage; on his observation of continuing symptoms dating back to the 1986 surgery, and his agreement with Dr. Voke.  We rely on Dr. Swift's conclusion that Employee's back and leg pain is caused by scarring from the 1986 surgery, and his disagreement with Dr. Larson that Employee's back problems are not related to the 1986 injury.


Since we have found the presumption of compensability has been rebutted, it drops out and as indicated above, Employee and ATIE must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that his work aggravated, accelerated, or combined with his preexisting back condition, and that the aggravation, acceleration or combination was a substantial factor contributing to his ultimate disability and need for medical care.


We find that Employee's work with the State of Alaska aggravated his preexisting back condition.  We rely on Employee's and Mr. Hustead's testimony; on Dr. Voke's testimony that Employee's job could have caused temporary flare-ups or aggravations of his preexisting condition; on Dr. Swift's conclusion that "mechanical irritation" due to physical activity aggravated Employee's condition; on Dr. Puziss' testimony on cross-examination that the physical activity resulting from logging inspections and prolonged sitting could aggravate Employee's preexisting condition; and on Dr. Ladyman's diagnosis of degenerative disc disease and testimony that heavy labor could cause Employee's symptoms.


We find Employee was a credible witness.  AS 23.30.122.  We have no doubt that he suffers from back pain which is both progressively, and more frequently, severe.  It is undisputed Employee did a very good job working for the State of Alaska, in spite of his pain, and Mr. Smythe testified at hearing he would be very pleased if he returned to his old job.  We believe that after ATIE declined to pay for Employee's ongoing medical care, which Employee justifiably believed was its responsibility under the terms of the C&R, he shifted his focus to the State of Alaska, in search of a responsible party.


We find Employee and ATIE have failed to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that Employee's work for the State of Alaska was a substantial factor contributing to his ultimate disability and need for medical care.  We rely on the same evidence we relied on to rebut the presumption of compensability, especially the evidence indicating Employee suffers from a degenerative condition, and Dr. Voke's conclusion that Employee's bulging L5-S1 disc, which he believes has become more prominent since 1994, would have occurred even if Employee had not engaged in the physical activities associated with the logging inspections.


We also rely on the fact that Employee has experienced progressively worsening back symptoms since shortly after his surgery, and  his inability to recall any specific injury or incident at work which caused his symptoms to increase.  We find Employee's history of progressively worsening symptoms is more consistent with a degenerative condition than a new injury or a substantial aggravation caused by his job. 


We have also considered and relied on the spreadsheets prepared by Mr. Stewart, Employee's testimony about his work and use of sick leave, his affidavit of 22 April 1997, and other relevant testimony and evidence.  We find little, if any, correlation between the logging and other inspections Employee performed and his use of sick leave.


Also, we find very little correlation between Employee's work activity and the medical care he received.  In fact, the most prominent aggravating event documented in the medical records was his packing, loading, and moving his household goods from Ketchikan to Anchorage in August 1995.  In addition, of course, Employee never told his doctors his job at the State of Alaska was aggravating his back condition.


In weighing the medical evidence we accord less weight to the report of Dr. Larson, a radiologist, because he stated causation should be determined by a surgeon or rehabilitation physician.  We accord less weight to Dr. Puziss' deposition testimony because it so directly contradicts his written report, which was based on the work history Employee reported to him in face-to-face discussions.  We accord more weight to Voke's opinions, who was hired by ATIE, because his opinion is contrary ATIE's interests, demonstrating his independence.


Since we have found Employee's work for the State of Alaska was not a substantial factor contributing to his disability and need for medical care, we find the State of Alaska is not responsible for workers' compensation benefits related to Employee's back injury.  


Employee requests reimbursement of $758.00 for medical costs he has paid, and that his health care insurer be reimbursed $3,684.59 for medical costs it has paid.  Further analysis under the last injurious exposure rule is unnecessary.  We find that under the terms of the C&R we approved on 9 May 1990, ATIE is responsible for the costs itemized, for any other medical care Employee has received for his back condition since 1995 when ATIE discontinued paying for his care, and for medical care which Employee may require for his back condition in the future.  


Employee's claim for additional TTD and PPI compensation must be denied.  When he entered into the C&R agreement, Employee accepted the risk that his back condition would degenerate causing additional permanent impairment, and that he would have additional periods of temporary total disability.  The availability of sick leave through his State of Alaska employment enabled Employee to be paid during those periods he was unable to work due to back pain, as was appropriate under the circumstances.  


We find ATIE must pay a 25 percent late payment penalty on all medical benefits due and unpaid as of the date of this decision.  AS 23.30.155(e).  "Compensation" under Sec. 155(e) includes medical benefits.  Childs v. Copper Valley Elec. Ass'n, 860 P.2d 1184, 1192 (Alaska 1993).  We find ATIE controverted Employee's claim "in fact" in 1995 when, without written notice, it discontinued paying Employee's medical costs, and refused to pay for work-station modifications.  Alaska Interstate v. Houston, 586 P.2d 618 (Alaska 1978).


We find ATIE must pay interest at the rate of 10.5 percent on all medical benefits due and unpaid as of the date of this decision.  8 AAC 45.142; AS 23.30.010; Childs at 1191.


Attorney's Fees and Costs


AS 23.30.145 provides:


  (a)  Fees for legal services rendered in respect to a claim are not valid unless approved by the board, and the fees may not be less than 25 per cent on the first $1,000 of compensation or part of the first $1,000 of compensation, and 10 per cent of all sums in excess of $1,000 of compensation.  When the board advises that a claim has been controverted, in whole or in part, the board may direct that the fees for legal services be paid by the employer or carrier in addition to compensation awarded; the fees may be allowed only on the amount of compensation controverted and awarded.  When the board advises that a claim has not been controverted, but further advises that bona fide legal services have been rendered in respect to the claim, then the board shall direct the payment of the fees out of the compensation awarded.  In determining the amount of fees the board shall take into consideration the nature, length and complexity of the services performed, transportation charges, and the benefits resulting from the services to the compensation beneficiaries.


Mr. Jensen filed four Attorney's Fees Affidavits; the original Affidavit is dated 25 March 1997, a Supplemental Affidavit is dated 31 March 1997, the Second Supplemental Affidavit is dated 24 April 1997, and a Third Supplemental Affidavit is dated 25 April 1997.  Employee requests payment of $22,868.50 for legal services and paralegal costs, and a total of $3,530.52 for additional legal costs.


We find ATIE controverted Employee's claim and is responsible for Mr. Jensen's attorney's fees under AS 23.30.145(a), and his legal costs under 8 AAC 45.180(f).  We are unable to calculate the statutory minimum attorney's fee, as Employee's medical care needs are ongoing.  We find, however, Mr. Jensen is entitled to a fee in excess of the statutory minimum fee.


In determining the amount of the fee to award, we are to apply the nature-length-complexity and benefits test.  AS 23.30.145(a).  We have reviewed Mr. Jensen's Affidavit, and find he provided routine legal services.  He has been involved in the case since 26 March 1996, when Employee first contacted him.  Due to the dispute between the two employers, and the large volume of evidence they presented, the length of time involved is not unusual.  Employee's claim was not difficult for Mr. Jensen to prosecute, because the dispute was between ATIE and the State of Alaska, and because Employee remained entitled to medical benefits under the terms of the C&R Agreement.  The legal services Mr. Jensen provided were not complex.  Mr. Jensen was successful in obtaining payment of Employee's past and future medical costs, a penalty, and interest, none of which would not have been paid without this litigation.  If we had found the State of Alaska responsible for Employee's workers' compensation benefits, Employee requested additional PPI and TTD compensation totalling about $13,300.  Mr. Jensen was not successful in obtaining all the benefits sought.  Mr. Jensen requests payment of his fees at the rate of $195 per hour.  Because the services provided were not complex, we find ATIE must pay Mr. Jensen's fees at the rate of $175 per hour.  Because Mr. Jensen was not entirely successful, we find the revised total number of billable hours should be reduced by 15 percent.


We find Mr. Jensen repeated billable hours, for legal and paralegal services, and repeated legal costs, in his Supplemental and Second Supplemental Affidavits, and then requests payment for both.  We assume this was an unintentional oversight.  In addition, Mr. Jensen lists paralegal services as if they were legal services, and not legal costs.  See, 8 AAC 45.180(f)(14).  In addition, Mr. Jensen's paralegal did not file an Affidavit which complies with 8 AAC 45.180(f)(14)(D).  As 8 AAC 45.180(f) specifies no sanction for failing to comply with its requirements, and we are granted broad discretion in awarding costs, we direct Mr. Jensen to prepare one Attorney's Fees Affidavit which contains all of his hours, which does not contain duplicate charges, and another affidavit of legal costs which complies with 8 AAC 45.180.


In the affidavits submitted, Mr. Jensen failed to indicate how many pages were copied or the rate he charges for copies.  See, 8 AAC 45.180(f)(15).  In his revised Affidavit, Mr. Jensen must report the number of pages copied and when, and charge at $.10 per page, and no more.  The time for justifying a higher duplication fee ended when the record closed on 13 May 1997.


We direct Mr. Jensen to submit his revised Attorney's Fees Affidavit and revised Affidavit of Legal Costs to ATIE for payment.  We direct ATIE to pay Mr. Jensen's attorney's Fees and costs in accord with this decision.  We retain jurisdiction to resolve any dispute about payment of those fees and costs.


As ATIE did not prevail, Ms. Chapman's request for reimbursement of attorney's fees and costs by the State of Alaska is denied and dismissed.


ORDER

1.  ATIE shall reimburse Employee $758 for medical costs he paid.


2.  ATIE shall reimburse Employee's Alaska health care insurer $3,684.59 for medical costs it has paid.


3.  ATIE shall pay Employee's future medical costs in accord with the Compromise and Release Agreement we approved on 9 May 1990.


4.  ATIE shall pay Employee a 25 percent penalty on all unpaid medical costs in accord with this decision.


5.  ATIE shall pay Employee interest on all unpaid medical costs in accord with this decision.


6.  Employee's claim for payment of additional temporary total disability compensation and permanent partial impairment compensation is denied and dismissed.


7.  Mr. Jensen shall prepare revised Attorney's Fees and Legal Costs Affidavits in accord with this decision.  ATIE shall pay Employee's attorney's fees and legal costs in accord with this decision.  We retain jurisdiction to resolve any dispute about the payment of those fees and costs.


8.  ATIE's request for reimbursement of attorney's fees and costs is denied and dismissed.


Dated at Juneau, Alaska this 27th day of May, 1997.



ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD



 /s/ L.N. Lair              


Lawson N. Lair, 



Designated Chairman



 /s/ Nancy J. Ridgley       


Nancy J. Ridgley, Member



 /s/ James G. Williams      


James G. Williams, Member


If compensation is payable under terms of this decision, it is due on the date of issue and penalty of 25 percent will accrue if not paid within 14 days of the due date unless an interlocutory order staying payment is obtained in Superior Court.


APPEAL PROCEDURES

This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.


Proceedings to appeal must be instituted in Superior Court within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board, as provided in the Rules of Appellate Procedure of the State of Alaska.


RECONSIDERATION

A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.


MODIFICATION

Within one year after the rejection of a claim or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200 or 23.30.215 a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.  


CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Decision and Order in the matter of Philip Oldring, employee / applicant; v. Phoenix Logging, employer; and Klukwan Forest Products, employer; and Alaska Timber Insurance Exchange; insurer; and State of Alaska, Department of Labor (self insured) / defendants; Case Nos. 8609520, 8928277 & 9430195; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board in Juneau, Alaska, this 27th day of May, 1997.

                             _________________________________

                             Susan N. Oldacres

SNO

�








     �See ATIE's hearing brief, Exhibit A.


     �At hearing, Employee testified his Oregon health insurer paid part of Dr. Puziss' charges, and it is seeking reimbursement for that payment out of the proceeds of this Alaska workers' compensation claim.


     �AS 23.30.155(c) requires insurers to file a compensation report within 21 days after benefits are suspended.  Section 155(d) requires a Notice of Controversion to be filed within seven days after compensation is payable.  Nevertheless, unauthorized delays in paying benefits enables insurers to earn interest on the "float."


     �The Notice of Controversion must be filed on a form prescribed by the AWCB.  AS 23.30.155(a), 8 AAC 45.182(a).





